IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
Plaintiff-Appellee,))
v.	SUPREME COURT 19-0022
DANIEL WESLEY DAVIS, JR.,))
Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR TAMA COUNTY HONORABLE MARY E. CHICCHELLY, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY Assistant Appellate Defender mlucey@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT <u>FINAL</u>

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN ORDERING DAVIS TO PAY DISCRETIONARY CRIMINAL RESTITUTION WITHOUT A FINAL ORDER CONSIDERING HIS REASONABLE ABILITY TO PAY WITHOUT UNDUE HARDSHIP?

Authorities

Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2017)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 646 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Woody, 613 N.W.2d 215, 217 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144, 162 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Rawls, No. 18-0882, 2019 WL 2145722, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. May 15, 2019)

State v. Mosley, No. 17-1087, 2019 WL 1868186, at *1 (Iowa April 26, 2019)

State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa Code § 815.9(3) (2017)

Iowa Code § 910.2 (2017)

Iowa Code § 815.9(4) (2017)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 620 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 166 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Court R. 26.2(10)(a)

State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791, 797 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Harrison, 351 N.W.2d 526, 529 (Iowa 1984)

Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 667 n.8, 103 S.Ct. 2064, 2069 n.8 (1983)

State v. Petrie, 478 N.W.2d 620, 622 (Iowa 1991)

State v. McMurry, 925 N.W.2d 592, 600-601 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code § 910.3 (2017)

State v. Covel, 925 N.W.2d 183, 189 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Petty, 925 N.W.2d 190, 197 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Headley, 926 N.W.2d 545, 553 (Iowa 2019)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issues raised involve applying existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Appellant Daniel Davis appeals following his guilty plea, judgment and sentence, to the charges of theft in the second degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 714.4 and 714.2(2) and possession of a controlled substance – third offense in violation of Iowa Code sections 124.401(5) (2017).

Course of Proceeding and Disposition Below: On May 9, 2018, the State charged Davis with Count I: theft in the first degree; Counts II and III: theft in the third degree; and Count IV; possession of a controlled substance (methamphetamine) – third offense, all for acts alleged on August 25, 2017. The State also noticed the habitual offender enhancement for the felony counts. (TI)(App. pp. 4-10).

On August 16, 2018, Davis appeared in court and entered Alford¹ guilty pleas pursuant to a plea agreement. (Order Accepting Pleas & Judgment)(App. pp. 16-18). The prosecutor outlined the agreement:

[], in exchange for the Defendant's pleas of guilty to Count One, and that would be the lesser-included offense of Theft in the Second Degree, and Count Four, Possession of a Schedule II Controlled Substance, Third Offense, the State has agreed not to pursue the habitual felony enhancement. Further, the State will be dismissing Counts Two and Three. The Defendant agrees to go to prison, and there is a joint recommendation that all these sentences run concurrently with all imposed sentences that the Defendant is facing. Additionally I'd recommend the minimum fine and restitution. I have no objection to the Court suspending that fine in lieu of the restitution owed, the Defendant's costs and attorney fees. I think that should include all of the conditions of the plea. [].

(Tr. p. 2L17-p. 3L10). The plea agreement was binding on the court. (Tr. p. 3L13-17, p. 4L17-20).

Davis waived his right to a delay between his guilty pleas and sentencing. (Tr. p. 22L25-p. 24L6). Davis was sentenced to be incarcerated for a period not to exceed five years on each count to be served concurrently and

¹ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160 (1970).

concurrently with previous sentences Davis was serving. The court suspended the fine on each count. The court imposed a \$125 law enforcement initiative surcharge on each count.

Davis was ordered to pay a \$10 DARE surcharge. The court also ordered Davis to pay the cost of the action and to reimburse the state for the cost of his legal assistance. The court ordered Davis to pay victim restitution pursuant to a statement of pecuniary damages to be filed by the state within thirty days. Count II and III were dismissed. (Tr. p. 26L21-p. 28L5; Order Accepting Pleas & Judgment)(App. pp. 16-18).

On August 31, 2018, the State filed the statement of pecuniary damages seeking \$2,000 in restitution. (Pecuniary Damages)(App. pp. 20-22). The court ordered Davis to pay \$2,000 in restitution. (Order for Pecuniary Damages)(App. pp. 23-24). Davis filed a Notice of Appeal on September 14, 2018. (NOA)(App. p. 25). On September 19, 2018, the Department of Corrections filed a restitution plan showing

Davis owed \$2,405.58 in restitution. (9/19/18 Restitution Plan)(App. p. 27).

<u>Facts</u>: At the guilty plea, the prosecutor outlined the factual basis and the evidence that would have been presented at trial:

Your Honor, the Defendant was at the Meskwaki Casino, I believe, that he collided with a vehicle that was parked there. When law enforcement began looking into the situation, it turned out the vehicle had been stolen from a car dealership in, I believe it was in Polk County, a situation where they had come sort of lock box on the side window of the car with a key in it. Anyway, the vehicle was stolen from the car dealership. And I believe a search warrant was executed; and in the execution of that search warrant, drugs were found in the car. The Defendant was ultimately charged - - he was driving the car. The Defendant was ultimately charged with theft of the vehicle as well as the controlled substance because he had a two prior felony convictions, two prior felony possession of controlled substance convictions, the drug offenses being possession of a controlled substance.

(Tr. p. 17L7-23, p. 21L5-13). <u>See also Minutes (Conf. App. pp. 4-13).</u>

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ORDERING DAVIS TO PAY DISCRETIONARY CRIMINAL RESTITUTION WITHOUT A FINAL ORDER CONSIDERING HIS REASONABLE ABILITY TO PAY WITHOUT UNDUE HARDSHIP.

Preservation of Error.

Criminal restitution is a criminal sanction that is part of the sentence. Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2017); State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996); State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 646 (Iowa 1987). Procedurally defective, illegal, or void sentences are not subject to the usual concept of waiver or requirement of error preservation. State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994); State v. Woody, 613 N.W.2d 215, 217 (Iowa 2000).

Davis' complaint is properly raised on appeal because the court failed to follow the procedure outlined in State v.

Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144, 162 (Iowa 2019). See also e.g.

State v. Rawls, No. 18-0882, 2019 WL 2145722, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. May 15, 2019) ("The State argues Rawls's claim is not

ripe for appellate review. The State made the same argument in *Albright*, but the court implicitly rejected it by ruling on the issue.")(footnote omitted); State v. Mosley, No. 17-1087, 2019 WL 1868186, at *1 (Iowa April 26, 2019)(per curiam) ("Here, the district court did not have the benefit of the procedures outlined in *Albright* when it entered its order regarding restitution of court costs and attorney fees. Accordingly, we must vacate that part of the sentencing order regarding restitution and remand the case back to the district court.").

Standard of Review.

The Court reviews restitution orders for correction of errors at law. State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004). When reviewing a restitution order, the appellate court determines whether the district court has properly applied the law. State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010).

Discussion.

Davis was found to be indigent and was granted courtappointed counsel. (Order of Attorney Withdrawal & Appt. of Counsel; Financial Affidavit)(App. pp. 13-14; 15). At sentencing, the district court ordered Davis to pay restitution for court costs and attorney fees. (Order Accepting Pleas & Judgment p. 2)(App. p. 17). These costs were order as restitution, assessed by the clerk of court and are being collected by the Department of Corrections. (General Combined Docket p. 8 (Financial Summary); 9/19/18 Restitution Plan)(App. p. 26).²

When a person is granted an appointed attorney, he shall be required to reimburse the state for the total cost of legal assistance provided to the person. Iowa Code § 815.9(3) (2017). "Legal assistance" includes not only the expense of the public defender or an appointed attorney, but also transcripts, witness fees, expenses, and any other goods or

² The password protected financial summary on Iowa Courts online shows court-appointed attorney fees were also added.

services required by law to be provided to an indigent person entitled to an appointed attorney. Iowa Code § 815.9(3) (2017).

In all criminal cases where judgment is entered, the sentencing court shall order restitution be made. Restitution includes court-appointed attorney fees and court costs. Iowa Code §§ 910.2 and 815.9(4) (2017). Criminal restitution is a criminal sanction that is part of the sentence. Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2017); State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996); State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 646 (Iowa 1987). The legislature has inserted restitution, which otherwise would normally be civil, into the criminal proceeding. Cf. State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d at 620 ("the legislature has injected this matter, which would ordinarily be civil, in a criminal action and provided for counsel throughout the criminal prosecution, ending with judgment on behalf of the State."). The court is authorized to order criminal restitution pursuant to the restitution statutes. State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161,

166 (Iowa 2001).

The legislature specifically provided that the imposition of restitution for the cost of legal assistance and court costs is subject to a determination of the defendant's reasonable ability to pay. Iowa Code section 910.2(1) (2017) provides in relevant part:

In all criminal cases in which there is a plea of guilty, verdict of guilty, or special verdict upon which a judgment of conviction is rendered, the sentencing court shall order that restitution be made by each offender to the victims of the offender's criminal activities, to the clerk of court for fines, penalties, surcharges, and, **to the extent that the offender is reasonably able to pay**, for crime victim assistance reimbursement, restitution to public agencies pursuant to section 321J.2, subsection 13, paragraph "b", court costs including correctional fees approved pursuant to section 356.7, court-appointed attorney fees ordered pursuant to section 815.9, including the expense of a public defender, when applicable, contribution to a local anticrime organization, or restitution to the medical assistance program pursuant to chapter 249A.

Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2017)(emphasis added). See also Iowa Court R. 26.2(10)(a) ("the court shall order the payment of the total costs and fees for legal assistance as restitution to the extent the person is reasonably able to pay").

A defendant's reasonable ability to pay is a constitutional prerequisite for a criminal restitution order provided by Iowa Code chapter 910. State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791, 797 (Iowa 1985); State v. Harrison, 351 N.W.2d 526, 529 (Iowa 1984). Cf. Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 667 n.8, 103 S.Ct. 2064, 2069 n.8 (1983)("The more appropriate question is whether consideration of a defendant's financial background in setting or resetting sentence is so arbitrary or unfair as to be a denial of due process."). Iowa's recoupment statute does not infringe on a defendant's right to counsel because of the "reasonable ability to pay" determination. State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d at 793; State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d at 614-615. "A cost judgment may not be constitutionally imposed on a defendant unless a determination is first made that the defendant is or will be reasonably able to pay the judgment." Id. at 615.

The imposition of the discretionary criminal restitution was not part of the plea agreement.

A plea agreement may include provisions regarding the payment of legal assistance fees and court costs. State v. Petrie, 478 N.W.2d 620, 622 (Iowa 1991), modified, State v. McMurry, 925 N.W.2d 592, 600-601 (Iowa 2019). The prosecutor outlined the agreement:

[], in exchange for the Defendant's pleas of guilty to Count One, and that would be the lesser-included offense of Theft in the Second Degree, and Count Four, Possession of a Schedule II Controlled Substance, Third Offense, the State has agreed not to pursue the habitual felony enhancement. Further, the State will be dismissing Counts Two and Three. The Defendant agrees to go to prison, and there is a joint recommendation that all these sentences run concurrently with all imposed sentences that the Defendant is facing. Additionally *I'd recommend the minimum fine and restitution. I have no objection to the Court suspending that fine in lieu of the restitution owed, the Defendant's costs and attorney fees.* I think that should include all of the conditions of the plea. [].

(Tr. p. 2L17-p. 3L10)(emphasis added). The plea agreement was binding on the court. (Tr. p. 3L13-17, p. 4L17-20). The record reflects that the imposition of court costs and attorney fees were not part of the plea agreement.

The prosecutor spoke in terms of "recommend" suspension of the fines and "joint recommendation" for

concurrent sentences. Yet, the prosecutor spoke of restitution as if the court lacked discretion in the imposition of costs and attorney fees. (Tr. p. 3L2-8). Similarly, the court informed Davis that he "will be required to pay any court costs and court appointed attorney fees." And will be required to submit a DNA sample. But yet, the court informed Davis that he "may also be required to make restitution to any victims of each of these offenses." (Tr. p. 6L8-20)(emphasis added).

The plea agreement did not contain a provision regarding court costs and attorney fees. The district court was required to consider Davis' reasonable ability to pay the discretionary restitution.

The district court did not enter a final order which considered Davis' reasonable ability to pay.

The district court ordered Davis to pay restitution for court costs and attorney fees without a final order which would take into consideration his reasonable ability to pay. (Order Accepting Pleas & Judgment; Order for Pecuniary Damages)(App. pp. 16-18; 23-24). Recently, the Supreme

Court clarified the process the district court must follow when ordering criminal restitution. State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144 (Iowa 2019). The Albright Court urged the district court to take whatever steps necessary to ensure the items of restitution are in front of the court at the time of sentencing.

Id. at 160. If not all of the items of restitution are available at the time of sentencing, the Code allows the sentencing court to file a temporary order prior to the final plan of restitution.

Id.; Iowa Code § 910.3 (2017).

A plan of restitution is not complete until the court issues the final restitution order. State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d at 160. The Court stated:

Until the court issues the final restitution order, the court is not required to consider the offender's reasonable ability to pay. Restitution orders entered by the court prior to the final order are not appealable as final orders or enforceable against the offender. The reason for these orders being nonappealable or enforceable is that the final order of restitution must take into account the offender's reasonable ability to pay.

Id. at 160-161.

The district court did not have the amounts of any item for which discretionary restitution was ordered. Yet, the district court ordered Davis to pay the unknown amounts. (Order Accepting Pleas & Judgment)(App. pp. 16-18). The clerk of court has assessed the restitution against Davis. (General Combined Docket p. 8 (Financial Summery))(App. p. The Department of Corrections is collecting this unenforceable judgment.³ (9/19/18 Restitution Plan)(App. p. 27). Contrary to this Court's decision in Albright, the lower court is enforcing the restitution order contained in the sentencing order prior to a final order which is required to take into consideration Davis' ability to pay without an undue hardship.

³ Twenty percent of all credits to Davis' inmate's institutional account are being taken by the Department of Corrections. The Restitution Plan also provides: "[a]ny attempt to violate the conditions of this plan will result in major disciplinary proceedings. (Restitution Plan)(App. pp. 19, 27). While victim restitution is the first priority, Iowa Code section 902.2(1), the order should be corrected to avoid seizure of funds which will cause Davis undue hardship.

As in Albright, the trial court ordered restitution for items in the "second category of restitution" without having the amount of each item of restitution before it. "This is contrary to the statutory scheme as outlined in [Albright]." State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d at 162. This portion of the sentencing order must be vacated. When final amounts are obtained, the district court must give notice to Davis, appoint counsel and schedule a hearing where the district court will determine his reasonable ability to pay court costs and attorney fees. State v. Covel, 925 N.W.2d 183, 189 (Iowa 2019) ("Here, the district court did not have the total amount of restitution owed when it entered its order finding Covel reasonably able to pay. Therefore, the court erred, and we reverse the part of the sentence regarding restitution and remand the case for resentencing consistent with this opinion and our opinion in Albright.); State v. Petty, 925 N.W.2d 190, 197 (Iowa 2019)(same); State v. Headley, 926 N.W.2d 545, 553 (Iowa 2019)(same).

CONCLUSION

Daniel Davis respectfully requests this Court vacate the portion of the sentencing order requiring him to pay court costs and attorney fees and remand for a restitution hearing and final order where the district court will determine his reasonable ability to pay the restitution.

NONORAL SUBMISSION

Counsel does not believe oral argument would assist the court, therefore, counsel requests the case be submitted without oral argument.

ATTORNEY'S COST CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, hereby certifies that the true cost of producing the necessary copies of the foregoing Brief and Argument was \$1.36, and that amount has been paid in full by the Office of the Appellate Defender.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPEFACE REQUIREMENTS AND TYPE-VOLUME LIMITATION

This brief complies with the typeface requirements and type-volume limitation of Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.903(1)(d) and 6.903(1)(g)(1) because:

[X] this brief has been prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface Bookman Old Style, font 14 point and contains 2,709 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1).