IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-0022

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

DANIEL WESLEY DAVIS, JR.,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR TAMA COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MARY E. CHICHELLY, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

DARREL MULLINS
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
darrel.mullins@ag.iowa.gov

BRENT D. HEEREN
Tama County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR
REVIEW**

- I. The district court has not issued a final order of restitution. Is the assessment of costs enforceable or appealable?**

Authorities

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144 (Iowa 2019)
State v. Cassias, S.Ct. No. 18-1174, 2019 WL 4678164
(Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 25, 2019)
State v. Ceretti, 871 N.W.2d 88 (Iowa 2015)
State v. Comly, S.Ct. No. 18-1825, slip op. 3
(Iowa Ct. App. October 9, 2019)
State v. Gavin, S.Ct. No. 18-1258, 2019 WL 2871423
(Iowa Ct. App. July 3, 2019)
State v. Gordon, 921 N.W.2d 19 (Iowa 2018)
State v. Haas, 930 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2019)
State v. Hansen, S.Ct. No. 17-1945, 2019 WL 5067124
(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 9, 2019)
State v. Harris, S.Ct. No. 18-0593, 2019 WL 5067137
(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 9, 2019)
State v. Headley, 926 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2019)
State v. Jackson, 601 N.W.2d 354 (Iowa 1999)
State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271 (Iowa 2004)
State v. Moore, S.Ct. No. 18-1877, 2019 WL 4297255
(Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 11, 2019)
State v. Petty, S.Ct. No. 18-0437, 2019 WL 13002674
(Iowa Mar. 22, 2019)
State v. Swartz, 601 N.W.2d 348 (Iowa 1999)
State v. Walker, 610 N.W.2d 524 (Iowa 2000)
Tindell v. State, 629 N.W.2d 357 (Iowa 2001)
Iowa Code ch. 910 (2019)
Iowa Code § 814.6
Iowa Code § 910.1(4)
Iowa Code § 910.2
Iowa Code § 910.2(1)
Iowa Code § 910.3
Iowa Code § 910.5(1)(d)
Iowa Admin. Code r. 201-20.11

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this case. *State v. Albright* held that “any temporary, permanent, or supplemental order regarding restitution is not appealable or enforceable until the court files its final order of restitution.” 925 N.W.2d 144, 162 (Iowa 2019). But the Court of Appeals has noted that it and the Supreme Court has vacated “restitution-related orders absent a final restitution order.” *State v. Comly*, S.Ct. No. 18-1825, p. 3 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 9, 2019); see *State v. Moore*, S.Ct. No. 18-1877, 2019 WL 4297255, at *5, n.3 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 11, 2019) (collecting cases). It then has ordered the district court to consider an offender’s reasonable ability to pay discretionary restitution. See, e.g., *State v. Hansen*, S.Ct. No. 17-1945, 2019 WL 5067124 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 9, 2019); *State v. Harris*, S.Ct. No. 18-0593, 2019 WL 5067137 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 9, 2019); *State v. Cassias*, S.Ct. No. 18-1174, 2019 WL 4678164 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 25, 2019). Given this, the State has asked for retention in three other cases: *State v. Staake*, S.Ct. No. 19-0451, *State v. Lyon*, S.Ct. No. 19-0363, and *State v. Witham*, S.Ct. No. 18-1548. The State asks the Court to retain this case as well. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d), (f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Daniel Davis was convicted of second-degree theft and possession of a controlled substance as a third offense. See Iowa Code §§ 124.401(5), 714.4, 714.2(2). He appeals that portion of the judgment imposing costs as restitution.

The Honorable Mary E. Chicchelly presided.

Course of Proceedings

The State accepts the defendant's course of proceedings. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

Facts

Daniel Davis possessed a stolen 2015 Dodge Ram 2500 diesel pick-up truck and methamphetamine. Mins. Test. p. 1-2; Conf. App. 4-5; Plea Tr. p. 17, l. 23-p. 21, l. 13. And he had two prior felony drug convictions. *Id.*; Conf. App. 4-5.

When Davis entered an *Alford* plea,¹ the State outlined the agreement and stated,

I'd recommend the minimum fine and restitution. I have no objection to the Court suspending that fine in lieu of the restitution owed, the Defendant's costs and attorney fees.

¹ *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25, 37-38 (1970).

Plea Tr. p. 2, l. 17-p. 4, l. 17. Defense counsel said this comported with his understanding. *Id.* p. 3, l. 18-p. 4, l. 2.

Davis believed he would be convicted if he went to trial, the sentence for which would threaten his health. *Id.* p. 19, ll. 7-10. Davis wished to be sentenced immediately. *Id.* p. 22, l. 25-p. 24, l. 6. The Court secured Davis' agreement that he "may also have to make victim restitution, restitution for court costs and restitution for court-appointed attorney fees. ..." *Id.* p. 13, ll. 24-p. 14, l. 4.

The Court imposed a law enforcement initiative and DARE surcharge. Order Accepting Plea & Judgment; App. 16-17. It ordered Davis to pay victim restitution pursuant to a statement of pecuniary damages to be filed by the State. *Id.*; App. 16-17. And it ordered Davis to pay the costs of the action as well as his legal assistance. *Id.*; App. 17.

On August 28, 2018, a "Restitution Plan" was filed listing \$405.50 in costs. Rest. Plan (filed Aug. 28, 2018); App. 19. On August 31, 2018, the State filed a statement of the victim's pecuniary damages in the amount of \$2,000. Statement of Pec. Damages (filed Aug. 31, 2018); App. 20. That day, the Court "granted" the statement, ordered Davis to file an objection within 10 days, and stated,

“[r]estitution is to be paid to the victim ... in the total amount of \$2,000.” Order for Statement of Pec. Dam. (filed Aug. 31, 2018); App. 23. A September 14, 2018 combined docket report lists a \$100 filing and docketing fee, a \$40 court reporter fee, and \$265.50 in Sheriff’s fees. Combined Docket, p. 8; App. 26. Together, this totals \$405.50. Later, on September 19, 2018, a second “Restitution Plan” was filed listing the \$2,000 victim restitution and \$405.50 in “Costs.” Rest. Plan (filed Sept. 19, 2018); App. 27. The “Restitution Plan,” signed not by the court but by a Department of Corrections official, states that the Davis “has been ordered to pay the County Clerk of Court 20 percent of all credits” to his account. *Id.*; App. 27. It further states any attempt to violate the conditions of the plan will result in major disciplinary proceedings. *Id.*; App. 27.

There is no court order providing a final order of restitution or adopting this Department of Corrections statement as the final order.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court has not issued a final order of restitution. Orders in advance of it are not enforceable or appealable.

Standard of Review

The Court reviews restitution orders for correction of errors at law. *State v. Albright*, 925 N.W.2d 144, 158 (Iowa 2019); *State v. Klawonn*, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004).

Preservation of Error and Merits

Davis complains the district court ordered him to pay an unknown amount of court costs and attorney fees without assessing his reasonable ability to pay. Appellant's Pr. Br. pp. 21-22. But the district court has not yet issued a final restitution order. As such, it is not required to determine Davis' reasonable ability to pay. And, given the lack of a final order, the district court's order pertaining to costs and attorney fees is not appealable or enforceable.

With some exceptions, defendants may challenge illegal sentences for the first time on appeal. *Compare Tindell v. State*, 629 N.W.2d 357, 359-60 (Iowa 2001) (noting distinction between illegal sentences challenged under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(5) and procedurally defective sentences) *with State v. Headley*, 926 N.W.2d 545, 552 (Iowa 2019) (citing *State v. Gordon*,

921 N.W.2d 19, 23-24 (Iowa 2018) and requiring defendant to preserve challenge to presentence investigation report). Restitution challenges do not fall neatly into the “illegal sentence” rule for error preservation.

Iowa Code chapter 910 governs restitution. Iowa Code ch. 910 (2019). A defendant must repay a victim’s losses irrespective of his ability to pay it. Iowa Code § 910.2(1). Other losses include court costs and attorney fees; repayment of these are subject to a defendant’s reasonable ability to pay. *Id.* §§ 910.1(4), 910.2(1), 910.3. When the amounts of restitution are not available, the court may issue temporary, supplemental, and permanent orders. *Id.* § 910.3; *Albright*, 925 N.W.2d at 160. A plan of restitution is not complete until the district court has all figures available and issues “the final restitution order.” *Albright*, 925 N.W.2d at 160 (citing *State v. Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999)). Only after the court issues a final order of restitution, the Department of Corrections can prepare a “plan of payment.” Iowa Code § 910.5(1)(d); Iowa Admin. Code r. 201-20.11.

In the interim, an appellate court will not review a failure to assess a defendant’s reasonable ability to pay unless the district court

has ordered a plan of restitution. *State v. Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d 348, 354 (Iowa 1999); *Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d at 357. *Albright* held “[r]estitution orders entered by the court prior to the final order are not appealable as final orders or enforceable against the offender.” *Albright*, 925 N.W.2d at 161.

Thus, first and foremost, Davis’ claim is not ripe. There is, as yet, no complete accounting of Davis’ court costs. Until such time as these costs are assessed and imposed in a final order of restitution, a court is not required to determine the offender’s reasonable ability to pay. *See State v. Haas*, 930 N.W.2d 699, 704 (Iowa 2019) (citing *Albright*, 925 N.W.2d at 161).

Second, Davis has not exhausted his administrative remedies. Once the district court orders a plan of restitution, Davis can petition the district court for a modification under Iowa Code section 910.7. *Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d at 354; *Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d at 357. “Until that remedy has been exhausted, [this Court] ha[s] no basis for reviewing the issue.” *Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d at 354; *Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d at 357.

Finally, it is not clear that Davis has suffered harm from the order he disputes. It is true the Clerk has assessed restitution amounts. Combined Docket; App. 26. It is true that a Department of

Corrections worker has tabulated \$405.50 in costs and a filing states cautionary language. Rest. Plan (filed Sept. 19, 2018); App. 27. But these are not court orders. Even if they were, restitution orders “entered by the court prior to the final order are not...enforceable against the offender.” *Albright*, 925 N.W.2d at 161. In the absence of a final restitution order, these filings are unenforceable. Defendant cannot suffer harm from the sentencing order. His challenge, at least as it relates to the sentencing order, is not appealable.

If a restitution order states a specific amount is “due immediately” without determining a reasonable ability to pay, that does not comply with *Albright* or the procedure for restitution. Iowa Code § 910.2; *State v. Petty*, S.Ct. No. 18-0437, 2019 WL 13002674, at *5 (Iowa Mar. 22, 2019). Orders that state a restitution amount are not themselves enforceable under *Albright*. Clerks offices and the Department of Corrections should not be enforcing such orders. Until there is an enforceable final order of restitution, direct appeal is not the defendant’s avenue for redress.

Albright, of course, did reverse, seemingly in the absence of a final plan of restitution. The Supreme Court has reversed some sentencing orders under *Albright*. See, e.g., *Headley*, 926 N.W.2d at

552; *Gordon*, 921 N.W.2d at 23-24. The Court of Appeals has taken this to mean that notwithstanding the absence of a final order of restitution—and notwithstanding *Albright*'s language—it must reverse non-final restitution orders. *See, e.g., State v. Hansen*, S.Ct. No. 17-1945, 2019 WL 5067124 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 9, 2019); *State v. Harris*, S.Ct. No. 18-0593, 2019 WL 5067137 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 9, 2019); *State v. Cassias*, S.Ct. No. 18-1174, 2019 WL 4678164 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 25, 2019); *see also State v. Moore*, S.Ct. No. 18-1877, 2019 WL 4297255, at *5, n.3 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 11, 2019) (collecting cases); *State v. Gavin*, S.Ct. No. 18-1258, 2019 WL 2871423, at *1–2, fn. 4 (Iowa Ct. App. July 3, 2019). Recently, the Court of Appeals wrote, “both of Iowa’s appellate courts have often vacated restitution-related orders absent a final restitution order.” *State v. Comly*, S.Ct. No. 18-1825, slip op. 3 (Iowa Ct. App. October 9, 2019).

Albright should be clarified. Perhaps by using the phrase “not appealable” as a final order, the Court was explaining that direct appeal is not the appropriate vehicle for review. *See* Iowa Code § 814.6 (listing matters subject to direct appeal and discretionary review). Perhaps the Court had in mind that the offender must

exhaust his remedies under section 910.7 where orders are less than clear. *See Jackson*, 601 N.W.2d at 357. Perhaps the Court anticipates that district courts and clerks will employ different captions and language in orders consistent with *Albright*. Perhaps the Court believes the Department of Corrections will apply or amend its rules for restitution. *See Iowa Admin. Code r. 201-20.11*.

The bench and bar could benefit from clarification. While the State can understand the Court of Appeals' perspective, without a fuller explanation, *Albright* appears internally inconsistent. Iowa Code sections 814.6, 910.3 and .7 as well as the Administrative Code offer better guidance. If a court or the Department of Corrections issues an illegal order, an offender may file a petition for certiorari or grievance under chapter 17A as the case may be.

There is reason for caution here. According to the plea agreement, the State recommended suspending the fine in lieu of Davis paying "costs and attorney fees." Plea Tr. p. 2, l. 17-p. 4, l. 10. Now that the court has suspended the fine, Davis seeks a further concession: repayment of costs and attorney fees only according to his reasonable ability to pay. This hazards an effort to make a favorable plea bargain in the district court a better one on appeal.

See State v. Ceretti, 871 N.W.2d 88, 97-98 (Iowa 2015) (concerning illegal sentence challenge); *State v. Walker*, 610 N.W.2d 524, 526 (Iowa 2000) (concerning merger of convictions).

The Court should dismiss Davis' appeal. If the Clerk or the Department of Corrections are collecting fees from Davis without an enforceable order, he may challenge those actions in administrative proceedings or under chapter 910.

Alternatively, if the Court of Appeals is correct in its reading of *Albright*, the Court should remand this matter to the district court. The district court need not conduct a reasonable ability to pay determination until it issues a final order of restitution. Or, it may conclude Davis has such an ability to pay based on current financial data. But that determination is not appealable until the final order of restitution.

CONCLUSION

The Court should dismiss the appeal. If the Court does not, it may remand for an order clarifying that sums are not due until a final plan of restitution issues.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

The State agrees with Davis that this matter does not require oral argument.